

Citrus Responses to *Xylella fastidiosa* Infection, the Causal Agent of Citrus Variegated Chlorosis

Alessandra Alves de Souza^{1*} • Marco Aurélio Takita^{1,2} • Alexandre Morais do Amaral^{1,3} • Helvécio Della Coletta-Filho¹ • Marcos A. Machado¹

IAC - Centro APTA Citros Sylvio Moreira, CP 04, 13490-970, Cordeirópolis – SP, Brazil
IAC - Centro de Pesquisa e Desenvolvimento em Recursos Genéticos Vegetais, CP 28, 13001-970, Campinas – SP, Brazil
Embrapa - Recursos Genéticos e Biotecnologia, CP 02372, 70770-900, Brasília – DF, Brazil

Corresponding author: * alessandra@centrodecitricultura.br

ABSTRACT

Among citrus diseases, citrus variegated chlorosis is one of the most important in Brazil. It causes annual losses of US\$100 million to the citrus industry with chemical control of the vectors, pruning and roguing of diseased trees. The production of severely infected trees is heavily affected since they end up with reduced fruit size with hard rind, and not useful for industry or direct consume. The disease is caused by *Xylella fastidiosa*, a Gram-negative bacterium that lives inside the xylem vessels. First identified as a pathogen of vine, this bacterium has its pathogenicity associated with the colonization of the vessels, forming a dense biofilm that blocks the flow of the sap, generating a strong water deficit in the upper part of the affected plants. The tree physiology is heavily affected with a misbalance in different processes of the susceptible plants. The spectrum of susceptibility/resistance varies widely among the citrus group and genetic factors seems to be associated with the resistance in particular species. The understanding of the resistance mechanisms in citrus is deeper and points to an active response mediated by recognition elements that signalize the presence of the pathogen leading to the production of defense weapons that kill the bacterium. This chapter reports the complex responses associated with the presence of *X. fastidiosa* both at the physiological and genetic levels that allowed a better understanding of this host-pathogen interaction in a search for resistant varieties with increased agronomical value.

Keywords: CVC, gene expression, mandarin, resistance, sweet orange

CONTENTS

CITRUS VARIEGATED CHLOROSIS	73
Origin, etiology and symptoms	73
Spread and geographic occurrence	73
Natural plant hosts	74
Disease management and economic damage	74
Physiological and genetic aspects	75
The genetics of CVC resistance in <i>C. reticulata</i>	76
Comparison of the responses of the susceptible C. sinensis and the resistant C. reticulata	77
Hypothetical model of mandarin resistance response against Xylella fastidiosa	77
CONCLUSION	78
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	79
ADDITIONAL ELECTRONIC MATERIAL	79
REFERENCES	79

CITRUS VARIEGATED CHLOROSIS

Origin, etiology and symptoms

Citrus variegated chlorosis (CVC) was firstly related in 1987 in both Triangulo Mineiro region of Minas Gerais State, and Northern and Northwestern regions of São Paulo State, Brazil (Rossetti *et al.* 1990). The disease was associated with the xylem–limited bacterium *Xylella fastidiosa*, and the Koch's postulate was full filled by independent researchers groups (Chang *et al.* 1993; Hartung *et al.* 1994). Since the bacterium can affect different hosts, the CVC strain has been tentatively reclassified as *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *pauca* (Schaad *et al.* 2004; Schuenzel *et al.* 2005). The symptoms of CVC can be observed in leaves, fruits, branches and the whole tree, and include foliar wilt which become more evident in young leaves as a water deficit symptom (Fig. 1A). Typical irregular chlorosis evolve in mature and old leaves, recognized by interveinal yellowing on the upper side of leaf and corresponding brownish gumlike material on over side (Fig. 1B). Zinc- and iron-like deficiency can be frequently observed in the affected leaves (Fig. 1C). Later on, the brown spots may coalesce and the leaves drop. Stunted trees show twig dieback, fruits of reduced size and hardened becoming unsuitable for the juice industry as well as for the fresh fruit market (Fig. 1D, 1E).

Spread and geographic occurrence

First reported in 1987, the CVC spread over all citrus production regions of Brazil, reaching in 2005 almost 43% of the 200 million sweet orange trees growing in São Paulo State (www.fundecitrus.com. br). The geographical distribu-



Fig. 1 General aspects of citrus variegated chlorosis symptoms. (A) Diseased and healthy trees. (B) Leaves symptoms (interveinal yellowing on the upper side (adaxial surface) and corresponding brownish on the under side, i.e. abaxial surface). (C) Zinc and iron associated deficiency. (D) Leaves drop and dieback; (E) Reduction of fruit size.



Fig. 2 Map of São Paulo State showing the CVC incidence in different geographic regions. (Source: http://www.fundecitrus.com.br)

tion of CVC in the main citrus growing areas in Brazil is uneven and may be associated with temperature and water availability throughout the year. The most severely affected North and Northwestern regions in São Paulo State are characterized by high temperature and uneven rainfall, while the South and West regions with mild temperature and a well distributed rainfall are less affected by CVC (**Fig. 2**).

In the beginning of the outbreak, the most significant spreading of CVC throughout the Sao Paulo orchards had probably occurred by the *Xylella*-infected nursery materials (buds and young trees). However, after 2002 a nursery program in which the plants are grown under a vector protected system became mandatory. As consequence, currently the spreading of CVC through orchards has been attributed exclusively to several species of xylem-feeder sharpshooters. At least 11 species of sharpshooters (Cicadellinae) are known to be involved in the transmission of *X. fastidiosa* from plant to plant. Four of them (*Acrogonia citrina, Buce-phalogonia xanthophis, Dilobopterus costalimai*, and *Oncometopia facialis*) are the most important for the disease spread once these species can be frequently found in a high number in citrus disease trees (Parra *et al.* 2005).

CVC has been reported in Argentina (Brlansky *et al.* 1991), Paraguay (Segnana *et al.* 1998), and recently in Costa Rica (Aguilar *et al.* 2005). In Argentina the citrus disease called 'pecocita' was firstly reported before CVC in Brazil, but despite the fact that both diseases have the same symp-

toms, it was only lately that *X. fastidiosa* was associated to 'pecocita' (Beltran *et al.* 2004). Therefore CVC is an emergent disease, which seems to be spreading slowly over the American continent.

Natural plant hosts

Under natural conditions in Brazil CVC is essentially a disease of sweet orange trees (C. sinensis L. Osb), the most cultivated citrus species in the world. But there is a complete spectrum from resistance to susceptibility to CVC within the genus Citrus. Analyses of more than 200 accessions of sweet orange failed to detect any resistant or tolerant variety to X. fastidiosa. Some mandarins (Carvalhais, Emperor, Wilking, and Tankan) are also high sensitive. Sour orange (C. aurantium L.), tangelos (Page, Swanee, and Willians), and tangors (Dweet, Hansen, Ortanique, Temple, and Umatilla) are also susceptible to CVC. On the other hand, varieties of mandarins (C. reticulata), acid lime (C. aurantiifolia), lemon (C. limon), grapefruit (C. paradisi), pummelo (C. grandis), and tangor (C. sinensis x C. reticulata), kumquats, and Poncirus trifoliata present high tolerance and resistance to the disease (Laranjeira et al. 1998; Coletta-Filho et al. 2007)

Information regarding other non-citrus natural hosts for X. fastidiosa of CVC is rare and controversial. Under natural conditions, X. fastidiosa of CVC was unevenly found in 10 out of 23 species of weed plants sampled in two groves affected by CVC. However, the bacterium titer in those weeds is probably below the leafhoppers acquisition threshold, consequently, unimportant to the epidemiology of the disease (Lopes et al. 2003). Under greenhouse and artificial inoculation the information about non-citrus host for citrus-X. fastidiosa is also controversial. Li et al. (2001, 2002) showed that the citrus-X. fastidiosa is able to colonize grape and coffee plants and incite symptoms of Pierce's disease and coffee leaf scorch, respectively. On the other hand, under greenhouse and artificial infection, no successful longterm infection of coffee plants by the citrus-X. fastidiosa strain was obtained and consequently no disease symptoms were developed (Almeida et al. 2008). These last results match those of Prado et al. (2008), indicating that the used citrus-X. fastidiosa isolates are unable to establish in coffee plants.

Disease management and economic damage

In fact, CVC strongly affects sweet orange production mainly in the North, Northwest, and Central areas of the São Paulo State, Brazil, leading to important economic losses. The growers have undertaken several control measures including pruning of affected branches in weakly or mildly infected trees and eradication of highly diseased plants to remove the inoculum, spraying of insecticides to reduce the population of transmission vectors (sharp-shooters) and using healthy nursery trees (Coletta-Filho *et al.* 2000). Bové and Ayres (2007) estimated in 10% the reduction of fruits production as consequence of CVC in whole São Paulo State that results in a lost of US\$ 125 million, according to the authors.

Physiological and genetic aspects

Although the understanding of the genome-level mechanisms underlying plant-phytopathogen interactions has greatly advanced over the last years, the physiological characteristics that have been affected by the infection processes are still not well understood. In particular, the study of the interaction between *X. fastidiosa* and its hosts is even more difficult since the development of the disease is very slow, which may affect the monitoring of the pathogen during the infection process as well as investigations regarding the plant-host physiology.

Utilizing a pathosystem that involves the infection of citrus and grapevine plants with *X. fastidiosa*, we can systematically dissect the defense response by the characterization of appropriate defense-related mechanisms of those plants, however important factors such as the concentration and specific content of the xylem fluid (amino acids and sugars) may differentially affect growth, aggregation, and biofilm formation of the *X. fastidiosa* according to the plant host (Bi *et al.* 2007).

Regardless of the limitations found in the study of this pathosystem, considerable effort has been made to elucidate the physiological modifications that occur in citrus plants infected by *X. fastidiosa*, which includes traits like gas exchange, sucrose, starch and reducing sugar contents (Gomes *et al.* 2003a), abscisic acid and indole-3-acetic acid contents (Gomes *et al.* 2003b) and nitrogen metabolism (Purcino *et al.* 2007).

Changes in photosynthesis found in citrus plants infected with X. fastidiosa (Gomes et al. 2003b) are also detected in symptomless leaf tissues, indicating that X. fastidiosa causes damage to the plant before symptoms become visible (Machado et al. 1994; Ribeiro et al. 2003). Interestingly, in grapevine, leaf-scorch symptoms in Pierce's disease can occur even with low concentrations of the bacterium (Gambetta et al. 2007). However, it has also been suggested that the extent of vessel blockage by bacterial colonization is highly likely to be a crucial variable in symptom expression (Newman et al. 2003). To determine in citrus how the process is affected by X. fastidiosa before visible symptoms become apparent, Ribeiro et al. (2003) measured leaf gas exchanges, chlorophyll a fluorescence and photosynthetic oxygen evolution and concluded that the lower photosynthetic rates in the leaves were caused by low stomatal conductance, biochemical injuries to the photosynthetic machinery (which might be caused by bacterial toxins) and an increase in alternative electron sinks.

The higher vulnerability of CVC-affected plants to water stress may be a consequence of the decrease in the xylem hydraulic conductivity causing stomatal closure, which are associated to the blockage of these vessels by *X. fastidiosa* (Machado *et al.* 1994, 2007). Indeed, the extracellular polysaccharides produced by *X. fastidiosa* in the xylem, and in which the bacterium is found, may contribute to the adhesion between the bacterial colonies and the vessels, then causing the occlusion of the xylem (Habermann *et al.* 2003).

Although the mechanisms of virulence of *X. fastidiosa* are not entirely understood, including how they contribute to the development of CVC, the occurrence of xylem-limited *X. fastidiosa* biofilm leading to vessel occlusion and subsequent water deficits (reduced water conductance) has

been found to be especially critical to cause the CVC symptoms (Hopkins 1989).

A lower hydraulic conductivity to the CVC-affected fruits is a key factor in the reducing of the size and weight of citrus fruits (Gazzola *et al.* 1991) as well as in modifying internal compounds concentration like sugars (Laranjeira and Palazzo 1999).

Induced water deficits resulted in an accelerated symptom development of CVC as compared to citrus plants not subjected to drought (Gomes *et al.* 2003a). The use of irrigation decreased the negative effects of CVC, but it did not prevent disease establishment in sweet orange plants inoculated with *X. fastidiosa* (Machado *et al.* 2007). Actually, even healthy citrus plants subjected to water stress show a decrease in the activation and total activity of the Rubisco enzyme, i.e., the carboxylation efficiency (Vu and Yelenosky 1988).

Indeed, most of the studies on physiology of citrus plants with CVC are largely based on correlative evidence with PD of grapevine, a disease that also shows clear association with water deficits symptoms. In grapevine, impaired hydraulic conductance, low leaf water potential and turgor and higher stomatal resistance were associated with PD symptoms (Goodwin *et al.* 1988). However, by comparing grapevines exposed to water deficits, stem inoculation with *X. fastidiosa*, and combinations of both to evaluate whether symptoms of PD were a consequence of water deficits, Thorne *et al.* (2006) found that factors other than water deficits may be involved in producing the symptoms of PD.

Recently, Purcino et al. (2007) demonstrated by proteomics approaches that the metabolism of N of citrus plants is highly affected by CVC, which could be demonstrated by a higher activity of glutamine synthetase and protease and a high concentration of the polyamine putrescine in diseased plants, which might be a consequence of photorespiration or proteolysis, typical components identified during a regular senescence process. In addition, a clear modification in the protein pattern between healthy and diseased citrus plants was found. However, it remains unclear if the most of the modifications in the N metabolism are a direct response to the pathogen or a consequence of the water stress. Susceptible citrus plants that are colonized by X. fastidiosa show typical water deficit symptoms (decreases of photosynthesis, transpiration, stomatal conductance, and water potential), as compared to leaves of healthy plants (Machado et al. 2004).

Also, a severe decrease in the content of certain nutrients is found in leaves of symptomatic trees infected with X. *fastidiosa*, which may be caused by absorption from the bacteria that are inside the tissues (Hopkins 1989; Chang and Donaldson 1993). Moreover, throughout the genome of X. *fastidiosa*, various putative transporters related to substrates such as organic acids, sugars, amino acids, inorganic ions like phosphates and nitrates, peptides and vitamins were identified, which could confer the bacteria a capacity to compete for nutrients from the sap.

A study conducted to investigate whether the disease directly affects the levels of the abscisic acid and auxin, in citrus trees, found no correlation between the presence of the bacteria and a disturbance in the hormones concentration in the leaves (Gomes *et al.* 2003a).

It has been clearly shown that X. *fastidiosa* influences the citrus physiology, especially by affecting hydraulic conductance, N metabolism as well as the photosynthesis rates, however it remains not well understood how they interact with each other and which additional plant pathways may be affected in the interaction with the pathogen.

How the dramatic changes in the citrus physiology caused by CVC could be explained by the genetic modulation in gene expression remained unclear until the more recent studies focusing the sequencing of ESTs from citrus infected with *X. fastidiosa*.

Differential expression represents an interesting way of detecting changes in the behavior of organisms in face of different conditions/treatments. A huge EST sequencing project was carried in Brazil focusing the identification of expressed sequences of citrus and related genera that are important for disease resistance, water stress, fruit quality, among others. In one of these analyses, the focus was on CVC, and therefore, the authors evaluated the different genes expressed in CVC diseased sweet orange plants. In this analysis, two cDNAs libraries were constructed from non-inoculated and CVC-diseased sweet orange leaves. A total of 15,944 sequences were obtained and clusterized forming 4,066 contigs (consensi sequences), from which 37 were identified with significant variation in expression. In this subset, 21 were up-regulated and 16 were down-regulated in plants with CVC (de Souza et al. 2007a). Analysis of the main functional categories of the down-regulated genes in CVC-diseased plants revealed that they are primarily associated to metabolism, protein modification, energy and transport facilitation. As expected, transcripts related to photosynthesis were down-regulated in plants with CVC. The authors point that this may occur as a consequence of disorders that occur in the photosynthetic apparatus of CVC symptomatic plants. Expression of genes involved in secondary metabolism and cell wall structure were also downregulated indicating that this plant may in fact be weaker and more susceptible to the attack of the pathogen.

On the other hand, they showed that the majority of the up-regulated transcripts in plants with CVC were associated to metabolism and defense response. One such gene is involved in cell wall structure and together with the downregulated genes, reveals that changes in the cell wall are really taking place probably as a result of the infection. The other processes that seem to be altered in diseased plants are oxidative stress and detoxification, synthesis of secondary metabolites, ions uptake, and water stress.

CVC induces water and nutritional stresses that are part of the physiological changes observed in the plants. The evaluation of the differentially expressed genes showed that the responses of the plant seem to be much more related to responses to the damages caused by the disease development. It reflects very well the physiological changes observed in the plant with CVC, especially in the case of photosynthesis.

Regardless of the damage caused by CVC, this disease does not kill affected plants. Since there should be adaptation mechanisms that keep the plants alive, the up-regulation of genes related to reorganization of cell walls, ions transport and water stress in plants with CVC may be part of the process.

The genetics of CVC resistance in C. reticulata

Unlike for other diseases such as citrus canker or huanglongbing, there are sources of resistance to CVC in the citrus group. A complete spectrum of tolerance or resistance to CVC can be found among the citrus genera and their relatives. Tests for the presence of *X. fastidiosa* in plants grown in areas containing high inoculum sources with different genotypes of mandarins (*C. reticulata* Blanco), limes (*C. aurantifolia* L.), lemons (*C. limon* L. Burm. f.), grapefruits (*C. paradisi* Macf.), pummelos (*C. grandis* L. Osb.), and tangors (*C. sinensis* x *C. reticulata*) were all negative (Laranjeira *et al.* 1998). Moreover, experiments using different genotypes of mandarins failed to reproduce the CVC symptoms even though some genotypes tested positive for the presence of *X. fastidiosa* (Jaimes *et al.* 2002).

Although much is known about the disease, little information is available on the resistance to CVC. Within the tangors, the cv. 'Murcott' (an important variety both for fresh fruit market and industry) is resistant to X. fastidiosa (Laranjeira et al. 1998). Focusing this resistance of C. reticulata and its hybrids, our group initiated a breeding program for CVC resistance in 1997 by crossing 'Pera', sweet orange, the main sweet orange cultivar grown in Brazil, and the 'Murcott' tangor. A 'Pera'-'Murcott' hybrid population was selected (Oliveira et al. 2007) and utilized for evaluating the multiplication of X. fastidiosa and the reproduction of CVC symptoms. The spectrum of responses to the pre-

Table 1 PCR and recovery of X. fastidiosa from artificially inoculated						
plants of 'Pera' sweet orange and Ponkan mandarin.						

Plant	PCR results ¹		ults ¹	X. fastidiosa
inoculation		1 011105		recovery ²
	Weeks after inoculation			_
	2	4	8	-
Ponkan 1	+	+	+	-
Ponkan 2	-	+	+	-
Ponkan 3	+	+	+	-
Ponkan 4	+	+	+	-
Ponkan mock	-	-	-	-
Pera 1	-	+	+	+
Pera 2	-	+	+	+
Pera 3	+	+	+	+
Pera 4	+	+	+	+
Pera mock	-	-	-	-

¹*Xylella*-specific amplification products from plant inoculated samples collected at two, four and eight weeks after inoculation: (+) positive amplification; (-) negative amplification

²Recovery of *Xylella fastidiosa*, from plant inoculated tissues, on PW medium at 11 weeks after inoculation: P - successful bacteria recovery; N - unsuccessful bacteria recovery.

sence of *X. fastidiosa* was wide within these hybrids, which were classified as susceptible, tolerant, and resistant to CVC (Coletta-Filho *et al.* 2007). Since CVC symptoms is a result of the blockage of the xylem vessels by the bacterial colonization, one of the possibilities to explain this broad spectrum of phenotypes observed in relation to CVC resistance is the diameter of the xylem vessels, which could be larger in mandarins than in sweet orange plants. To test this hypothesis, these authors did histological sections and measured the diameter of the vessels from tangor 'Murcott' and sweet orange and their hybrids. The conclusion of the authors was that there was no difference between the susceptible and resistant hybrids that could explain the resistance. Therefore, it suggests that other mechanisms must exist in order to explain the resistance to *X. fastidiosa*.

Among the mandarins, 'Ponkan' is the predominant variety in Brazil. It is considered resistant to CVC since it presents no symptom or economical damage as a result of the bacterial infection. Therefore, this species has been included in citrus breeding programs focusing resistance to CVC and used as a source for the identification of genes with potential for a possible production of transgenic resistant plants. In 'Ponkan' mandarins the bacterium is still detected by PCR at 30 and 60 days after inoculation but recovery of the microorganism is not attained (Table 1). It seems that the bacteria start colonizing the plant but fail and die inside the vessels (de Souza et al. 2007a). To study the changes in gene expression that could lead to the resistance, EST libraries were recently produced just like what was done for the sensitive sweet orange infected with X. fastidiosa (de Souza et al. 2007a, 2007b; de Souza et al. unpublished data) by using non-inoculated mandarin plants and infected plants at 30 and 60 days after inoculation. These libraries were compared in silico for identifying the genes differentially expressed which could help the understanding of the genetic responses leading to resistance to CVC. In this work, analyses were performed in a universe of more than 25,000 sequences (available in GenBank, accession numbers from EY758170 to EY783598) that were assembled and evaluated using bioinformatics tools. Emphasis was given to the induced genes at 30 and 60 days after inoculation compared to the non-inoculated control. The evaluations of the libraries showed an induction of different sets of genes at these time-points (http://www.centrodecitricultura.br/~alessandra/ cr xf/) and revealed a probable multifactor anti-pathogen response involving perception, signal transduction and activation of defense-related genes. In the first time-point, various different genes involved in recognition and signal transduction were found.

For recognition, a gene encoding a NBS-LRR-like disease resistance protein was identified. This type of disease

resistance protein is normally involved in responses in which avirulence (Avr) proteins from the pathogens are injected into the plant cells. Since no genes for Avr proteins or type III secretion apparatus were found in the genome of X. fastidiosa (Simpson et al. 2000), this resistance protein could be involved in the recognition of a still unknown cytosolic elicitor. In addition, plants can perceive general elicittors 'non self' denoted PAMPs (pathogen-associated molecular patterns). This is the basis for the basal or non-host resistance, where general elicitors derived from conserved structures required for pathogen function are recognized in a non-specific manner by PRRs (pattern recognition receptors) and activate signaling pathways leading to gene expression and, consequently, resistance (Ingle *et al.* 2006). X. fastidiosa shows several molecules that can function as PAMPs including exopolyssacharides, lipopolyssacharides, adhesins and exoenzymes that are able to degrade the plant cell wall (Osiro et al. 2004; Fedatto et al. 2006; Wulff et al. 2006; Roper et al. 2007a). These exoenzymes are considered to be pathogenicity factors since they allow the systemic movement of the bacterium inside the xylem vessels (Newman et al. 2003). The expression of an endoglucanase (engXCA) has already been detected in X. fastidiosa growing in biofilm (de Souza et al. 2004). This kind of growth occurs inside the xylem vessels, resulting in their blockage in susceptible plants, like sweet orange, inducing typical development of CVC symptoms. It has been reported that cell wall degrading enzymes are ubiquitous virulence factors among plant pathogens (Boudart et al. 2003; Poinssot et al. 2003), and their enzymatic degradation products can also function as non-specific elicitors, since they are known to induce immune responses in plants (Fagard et al. 2007).

Resistance mechanisms induced by PRR-recognition of general elicitors and R-protein-mediated recognition of specific elicitors represents plant innate immune systems. Both share similar signal transduction pathways, including changes in cytoplasm calcium levels, ROS production and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades (Jones and Takemoto 2004). 'Ponkan' showed up-regulation of one MAPK and an ethylene-related transcription suggesting an involvement of signal transduction related to these pathways in presence of *X. fastidiosa*. This activation will possibly lead to an amplification of the signal by a crosstalk of regulatory pathways could be controlling different cellular processes in mandarin - *X. fastidiosa* interaction. This crosstalk involves JA, ethylene, and SA pathways (de Souza *et al.* unpublished data).

At 30 days after infection with X. fastidiosa, genes involved with oxidative burst and antimicrobial activity were identified. Among these genes, cytochrome P450 encoding genes were up-regulated in 'Ponkan'. Interestingly, it mediates a wide range of oxidative reactions involved with biosynthesis of phenylpropanoids, terpenes, alkaloids, and common defense agents (Whitbred and Schuler 2000) and also, a P450-encoding gene was down-regulated in sweet orange diseased plants, which could show the involvement of such genes in CVC disease/resistance. To reinforce the importance of P450 in the resistance, genes encoding this protein were also up-regulated at 60 days after inoculation, when the bacterial population is declining. Other genes related to biosynthesis of secondary metabolites were also found making it evident the active response against the infection.

Comparison of the responses of the susceptible *C. sinensis* and the resistant *C. reticulata*

The group at the Centro de Citricultura Sylvio Moreira also compared the *C. sinensis* and *C. reticulata* responses at 30 days after inoculation (de Souza *et al.* 2007b). The genes with higher expression in the resistant *C. reticulata* encode NBS-LRR, S-adenosyl-L-methionine:salycilic acid methyltransferase, lipoxygenase, Fe-superoxide dismutase, cytochrome P450, and DnaJ. Another work comparing these two species identified specific chaperones belonging to the HSP70 family only in 'Ponkan' at 30 and 60 days after infection, csHSP70-3 and csHSP70-1. The increase in expression of these genes could be related to the oxidative stress response in 'Ponkan' (Fietto *et al.* 2007). Specific PR proteins were also identified as being differentially expressed in *C. reticulata* at 30 days after infection compared with *C. sinensis*, indicating their participation in the resistance of this organism (Campos *et al.* 2007).

Like observed from stems of PD resistant and susceptible sibling genotypes of grape infected with *X. fastidiosa* (Lin *et al.* 2007), signal transduction and defense-related response genes were up-regulated in *C. reticulata*. The results obtained in this comparison together with the evaluation of the expression pattern in the time course of infection of *C. reticulata* reinforce the idea that there is an active mechanism occurring in response to the presence of *X. fastidiosa* in the resistant plants. This mechanism involves perception, signal transduction, and activation of different pathways that may interact in order to develop resistance to the pathogen.

On the other hand, the genes with higher expression in sweet orange compared to mandarin at 30 days after inoculation belonged to the functional category of putative genes related to energy, which includes mainly genes associated with photosynthesis (de Souza *et al.* 2007b). These results in fact corroborate the previous findings obtained for sweet orange infected with *X. fastidiosa* that showed alterations in the expression pattern of photosynthesis related genes even without any symptom (de Souza *et al.* 2007a).

Hypothetical model of mandarin resistance response against *Xylella fastidiosa*

Since the resistance is not a result of the caliber of the vessels, there should be active defense responses leading to the resistance of *C. reticulata*. Intriguingly, the host perception of the intruder must be occurring in a tissue where the cells are dead. However, living cells that constitute the primary xylem are present inside the secondary xylem and could be responsible for the perception of the signals.

As described above, initially gene expression after inoculation with X. fastidiosa is associated mainly with recognition and signalization. Activation of the plant defense responses, in the interaction with X. fastidiosa (30 days after inoculation), is slow compared to other plant-pathogen interactions (Gibly et al. 2004). It probably occurs because X. fastidiosa is inoculated directly into the xylem vessels, which is basically constituted of dead cells and therefore, as mentioned before, the perception may occur in the few living cells present in the xylem, resulting in a response delay. Another possibility is that the bacteria adhere to xylem vessels, multiply, form biofilm, and then the cell wall degrading enzymes are produced allowing movement through the xylem pit membranes (Newman et al. 2003; Roper et al. 2007b). These enzymes and their degradation products probably act as non-specific elicitors which could be recognized by surface PRRs (pattern recognition receptors) and trigger a basal resistance response through the perception of multiple and distinct PAMPs. In the response to fungi, cell wall degradation is a very important factor that triggers the defense responses in plants. Sensor proteins present in the cell wall perceive the changes in this structure and induce the expression of genes involved in the defense of the plant (Vorwek et al. 2004). Since the colonization of X. fastidiosa involves cell wall degradation, it is possible that this defense mechanism is activated in mandarin in a way that is similar to what is observed in the interaction of plant with fungi.

Later on there is an increase in the number of genes associated to the expression of resistance-related genes, mainly involved in oxidative stress, P450 and biosynthesis of phenolic compounds. The whole process seems to lead to the decline in the bacterial population up to its disappearance. A defense response model of mandarins against X. *fastidiosa* is shown in **Fig. 3**.



Fig. 3 Hypothetical model of mandarin defense response induced by *Xylella fastidiosa*. At 30 days after inoculation with *X. fastidiosa*, cell-wall degradation products, LPS, EPS, and adhesins could function as non-specific elicitors. They may be recognized by surface PRRs (pattern recognition receptors) and trigger a basal resistance response throughout the perception of multiple and distinct PAMPs. This could activate a MAPK kinase cascade leading to the expression of genes involved in different defense responses. In addition, the expression of the *NBS-LRR R* gene could be induced by a putative cytosolic elicitor, leading to a signal transduction that may induce its own synthesis. Plant cells can sense and respond to changes in the mechanical properties of walls. Since *X. fastidiosa* degrades the cell wall, stability of the cell wall moiety could be sensed by proteins present in this structure, which ultimately leads to defense responses in a way that resembles the defense against fungi. A crosstalk among regulatory pathways appears to be involved, with the participation of SA, Methyl SA, Ethylene, and JA. At 60 days after inoculation, some other genes involved in resistance are activated, leading to a multicomponent resistance response amplified that impairs the multiplication of the bacterium in the plant, avoiding the symptoms and consequently the disease. SA (salicylic acid), JA (jasmonic acid), ETF (ethylene-related transcription factor), LPS (lipopolysaccharides), EPS (exopolysaccharides).

However, some questions arise from the model. Is there really a cytosolic elicitor involved in the plant resistance response? If so, how is it injected into the plant cell? Moreover, how is the interaction between this elicitor and the resistance protein that showed up-regulation? These are open questions so far and may be interesting subjects for future works.

CONCLUSION

Even though CVC is a major threaten for the citriculture especially in Latin America, because of the absence of effective control measures, good perspectives for its control in the future make the scenario not so dramatic. Genetic enhancement through the production of hybrids is an alternative since there are sources of resistance inside the Citrus group. The understanding of the molecular mechanisms that lead to this resistance also allow the identification of good candidates for the production of genetic modified plants that could be resistant to CVC. Since the work done so far shows a very complex network activated in response to the presence of the bacterium in the vessels of the resistant *C. reticulata*, the identification of key elements in this response in an essential step towards the production of these genetically modified plants. It remains to be investigated if one or few of the genes identified in the resistant plants are sufficient for generating resistance when over-expressed in the susceptible host.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research was supported by the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq) and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP). A.A.S., M.A.T., A.M.A., H.D.C-F. and M.A.M. are recipients of a research fellowship from CNPq.

ADDITIONAL ELECTRONIC MATERIAL

A table listing all the induced genes in *Citrus reticulata* at 30 and 60 days after inoculation with *X. fastidiosa* is available at http://www.centrodecitricultura.br/~alessandra/cr_xf/

REFERENCES

- Aguilar E, Villalobos W, Moreira L, Rodrigues CM, Kitajima EW, Rivera C (2005) First report of *Xylella fastidiosa* infecting citrus in Costa Rica. *Plant Disease* **89**, 687
- Almeida RPP, Nascimento FE, Chau J, Prado SS, Tsai CW, Lopes AS, Lopes JRS (2008) Genetic structure and biology of *Xylella fastidiosa* strains causing disease in citrus and coffee in Brazil. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 74, 3690-3701
- Bi JL, Dumenyo CK, Hernandez-Martinez R, Cooksey DA, Toscano NC (2007) Effect of host plant xylem fluid on growth, aggregation, and attachment of *Xylella fastidiosa. Journal of Chemical Ecology* **33**, 493-500
- Boudart G, Charpentier M, Lafitte C, Martinez Y, Jauneau A, Gaulin E, Esquerre-Tugaye MT, Dumas B (2003) Elicitor activity of a fungal endopolygalacturonase in tobacco requires a functional catalytic site and cell wall localization. *Plant Physiology* 131, 93-101
- Bové JM, Ayres AJ (2007) Etiology of three recent diseases of citrus in Sao Paulo State: sudden death, variegated chlorosis and huanglongbing. *IUBMB Life* **59**, 346-354
- Brlansky RH, Davis CL, Timmer LW, Howd DS, Contrera J (1991) Xylemlimited bacteria in citrus from Argentina with symptoms of citrus variegated chlorosis. *Phytopathology* **81**, 1201 (Abstract)
- Campos MA, Rosa DD, Teixeira JEC, Targon MLPN, de Souza AA, Paiva LV, Stach-Machado DR, Machado MA (2007) PR gene families of citrus: an overall from their tissue specific-biotic and abiotic inducible expression profiles based on ESTs approach. *Genetics and Molecular Biology* **30**, 917-930
- Chang CJ, Garnier M, Zreik L, Rossetti V, Bové JM (1993) Culture and serological detection of the xylem-limited bacterium causing citrus variegated chlorosis and its identification as a strain of *Xylella fastidiosa*. Current Microbiology 27, 137-142
- Coletta-Filho HD, Carlos EF, Targon MLPN, Cristofani M, de Souza AA, Machado MA (2000) Distribution of *Xylella fastidiosa* within sweet orange trees: influence of age and level of symptom expression of citrus variegated chlorosis. *Proceedings of 14th International Organization of Citrus Virologists*, Riverside, CA, pp 243-248
- Coletta-Filho HD, Pereira EO, de Souza AA, Takita MA, Cristofani-Yaly M, Machado MA (2007) Analysis of resistance to *Xylella fastidiosa* within a hybrid population of 'Pera' sweet orange x 'Murcott' tangor. *Plant Pathology* 56, 661-668
- de Souza AA, Takita MA, Coletta-Filho HD, Caldana C, Yanai GM, Muto NH, de Oliveira RC, Nunes LR, Machado MA (2004) Gene expression profile of the plant pathogen *Xylella fastidiosa* during biofilm formation *in vitro. FEMS Microbiology Letters* **237**, 341-353
- de Souza AA, Takita MA, Coletta-Filho HD, Campos MA, Teixeira JEC, Targon MLPN, Carlos EF, Ferraz JR, Fischer CN, Machado MA (2007b) Comparative analysis of differentially expressed sequence tags of sweet orange and mandarin infected with *Xylella fastidiosa*. Genetics and Molecular Biology 30, 965-971
- de Souza AA, Takita MA, Coletta-Filho HD, Targon MLPN, Carlos EF, Locali-Fabris EC, Amaral AM, Astua JF, Pinhati ACOS, Boscariol-Camargo RL, Berger IJ, Rodrigues CM, Reis MS, Machado MA (2007a) Analysis of expressed sequence tags from *Citrus sinensis* L. Osbeck infected with *Xylella fastidiosa. Genetics and Molecular Biology* **30**, 957-964

Fagard M, Dellagi A, Roux C, Périno C, Rigault M, Boucher V, Shevchik VE, Expert D (2007) Arabidopsis thaliana expresses multiple lines of de-

fense to counterattack Erwinia chrysanthemi. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 20, 794-805

- Fedatto LM, Silva-Stenico ME, Etchegaray A, Pacheco FT, Rodrigues JL, Tsai SM (2006) Detection and characterization of protease secreted by the plant pathogen *Xylella fastidiosa*. *Microbiological research* 161, 263-272
- Fietto LG, Costa MDL, Cruz CD, de Souza AA, Machado MA, Fontes EPB (2007) Identification and in silico analysis of the Citrus HSP70 molecular chaperone gene family. *Genetics and Molecular Biology* **30**, 881-886
- Gambetta GA, Fei J, Rost TL, Matthews MA (2007) Leaf scorch symptoms are not correlated with bacterial populations during Pierce's disease. *Journal* of Experimental Botany 58, 4037-4046
- Gibly A, Bonshtien A, Balaji V, Debbie P, Martin GB, Sessa G (2004) Identification and expression profiling of tomato genes differentially regulated during a resistance response to *Xanthomonas campestris* pv. *vesicatoria*. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **17**, 1212-1222
- Gomes MMAG, Lagôa AMMA, Machado EC, Medina CL (2003a) Abscisic acid and indole-3-acetic acid contents in orange trees infected by *Xylella fastidiosa* and submitted to cycles of water stress. *Plant Growth Regulation* **39**, 263-270
- Gomes MMAG, Lagôa AMMA, Machado EC, Medina CL, Machado MA (2003b) Gas exchanges and carbohydrate metabolism in orange trees with citrus variegated chlorosis. *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology* **15**, 25-31
- Goodwin PH, DeVay JE, Meredith CP (1988) Roles of water stress and phytotoxins in the development of Pierce's disease of the grapevine. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* 32, 1-16
- Habermann G, Machado EC, Rodrigues JD, Medina CL (2003) CO₂ assimilation, photosynthetic light response curves, and water relations of 'Pera' sweet orange plants infected with *Xylella fastidiosa*. Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology 15, 79-87
- Hopkins DL (1989) Xylella fastidiosa: Xylem-limited bacterial pathogen of plants. Annual Review of Phytopathology 27, 271-290
- Ingle RA, Carstens M, Denby KJ (2006) PAMP recognition and the plant-pathogen arms race. *Bioessays* 28, 880-889
- Jaimes EPG, Souza PS, Wickert E (2002) Resistance evaluation to *Xylella fastidiosa* of tangerine germplasm and hybrids introduced from Italy and Corsica. *Revista Brasileira Fruticultura* 24, 579-582 (in Portuguese)
- Jones DA, Takemoto D (2004) Plant innate immunity direct and indirect recognition of general and specific pathogen-associated molecules. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 16, 48-62
- Laranjeira FF, Pompeu Jr. J, Harakava R, Figueiredo JO, Carvalho SA, Coletta-Filho HD (1998) Cultivares e espécies cítricas hospedeiras de Xylella fastidiosa em condições de campo. Fitopatologia Brasileira 23, 147-154 (in Portuguese)
- Laranjeira FFB, Palazzo DA (1999) Danos qualitativos à produção de laranja Natal causados pela clorose variegada dos citros. *Laranja* 20, 77-91 (in Portuguese)
- Li WB, Pria WD Jr., Teixeira DC, Miranda VS, Ayres AJ, Franco CF, Costa MG, He CX, Costa PI, Hartung JS (2001) Coffee leaf scorch caused by a strain of *Xylella fastidiosa* from citrus. *Plant Disease* **85**, 501-505
- Li WB, Zhou CH, Pria WD Jr., Teixeira DC, Miranda VS, Pereira EO, Ayres AJ, He CX, Costa PI, Hartung JS (2002) Citrus and coffee strains of *Xylella fastidiosa* induce Pierce's disease in grapevine. *Plant Disease* 86, 1206-1210
- Lin H, Doddapaneni H, Takahashi Y, Walker MA (2007) Comparative analysis of ESTs involved in grape responses to *Xylella fastidiosa* infection. *BMC Plant Biology* 22, 7-8
- Machado EC, de Oliveira RF, Ribeiro RV, Medina CL, Stuchi ES, Pavani LC (2007) Water deficiency intensifies physiological symptoms of citrus variegated chlorosis in 'Natal' sweet orange plants. *Bragantia* 66, 373-379 (in Portuguese)
- Machado EC, Quaggio JA, Lagoa AMMA, Ticelli M, Furlani PR (1994) Gas exchange and water relations of orange trees with citrus variegated chlorosis. *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology* 6, 53-57
- Newman KL, Almeida RPP, Purcell AH, Lindow SE (2003) Use of a green fluorescent strain for analysis of *Xylella fastidiosa* colonization of *Vitis vinifera. Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **69**, 7319-7327
- Oliveira AC, Bastianel M, Cristofani-Yaly M, Amaral AM, Machado MA (2007) Development of genetic maps of the citrus varieties 'Murcott' tangor and 'Pera' sweet orange by using fluorescent AFLP markers. *Journal of Applied Genetics* **48**, 219-231
- Osiro D, Colnago LA, Otoboni AM, Lemos EG, de Souza AA, Coletta Filho HD, Machado MA (2004) Kinetic model for *Xylella fastidiosa* adhesion, biofilm formation, and virulence. *FEMS Microbiology Letter* 236, 313-318
- Parra JRP, Lopes JRS, Zucchi RA, Guedes JVC (2005) Biologia de insetospraga e vetores. In: Mattos Jr. D, de Negri JD, Pio RM, Pomper Jr. J (Eds) *Citros*, IAC/Fundag, Campinas, SP, pp 657-687 (in Portuguese)
- Poinssot B, Vandelle E, Bentejac M, Adrian M, Levis C, Brygoo Y, Garin J, Sicilia F, Coutos-Thevenot P, Pugin A (2003) The endopolygalacturonase 1 from *Botrytis cinerea* activates grapevine defense reactions unrelated to its enzymatic activity. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 16, 553-564
- Prado S, Lopes JRS, Demetrio C, Borgatto A, Almeida RPP (2008) Host colonization differences between citrus and coffee isolates of *Xylella fastidi*osa in reciprocal inoculation. Scientia Agricola 65, 251-258

- Purcino RP, Medina CL, Martins D, Winck FV, Machado EC, Novello JC, Machado MA, Mazzafera P (2007) *Xylella fastidiosa* disturbs nitrogen metabolism and causes a stress response in sweet orange *Citrus sinensis* cv. Pera. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **58**, 2733-2744
- Ribeiro RV, Machado EC, Oliveira RF (2003) Early photosynthetic responses of sweet orange plants infected with *Xylella fastidiosa*. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* **62**, 167-173
- Roper MC, Greve LC, Labavitch JM, Kirkpatrick BC (2007a) Detection and visualization of an exopolysaccharide produced by *Xylella fastidiosa in* vitro and in planta. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73, 7252-7258
- Roper MC, Greve LC, Labavitch JM, Kirkpatrick BC (2007b) Xylella fastidiosa requires polygalacturonase for colonization and pathogenicity in Vitis vinifera grapevines. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 20, 411-419
- Schaad NW, Postnikova E, Lacy G, Fatmi M, Chang CJ (2004) Xylella fastidiosa subspecies: X. fastidiosa subsp. [correction] fastidiosa [correction] subsp. nov., X. fastidiosa subsp. multiplex subsp. nov., and X. fastidiosa subsp. pauca subsp. Nov. Systematic and Applied Microbiology 3, 290-300
- Schuenzel EL, Scally M, Stouthamer R, Nunney L (2005) A multigene phylogenetic study of clonal diversity and divergence in North American strains of the plant pathogen *Xylella fastidiosa*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **71**, 3832-3839
- Segnana LR, Vilabbalba N, Mezzaroma AC, Qarra D, Santos JS, Matienzo PA, Beretta MJG (1998) First report of *Xylella fastidiosa* causing citrus variegated chlorosis (CVC) in Paraguay. *Fitopatologia Brasileira* 23, 216 (in Portuguese)
- Simpson AJG Reinach FC, Arruda P Abreu FA, Acencio M, Alvarenga R, Alves LMC, Araya JE, Baia GS, Baptista CS, Barros MH, Bonaccorsi ED, Bordin S, Bové JM, Briones MRS, Bueno, MRP, Camargo AA, Camargo LEA, Carraro DM, Carrer H, Colauto NB, Colombo C, Costa FF, Costa MCR, Costa-Neto CM, Coutinho LL, Cristofani M, Dias-Neto E, Docena C, El-Dorry H, Facincani AP, Ferreira AJS, Ferreira VCA, Ferro

JA, Fraga JS, Franca SC, Franco MC, Frohme M, Furlan LR, Garnier M, Goldman GH, Goldman MHS, Gomes SL, Gruber A, Ho PL, Hoheisel J, Junqueira ML, Kemper EL, Kitajima JP, Krieger JE, Kuramae EE, Laigret F, Lambais MR, Leite LCC, Lemos EGM, Lemos MVF, Lopes SA, Lopes CR, Machado JA, Machado MA, Madeira, AMBN, Madeira HMF. Marino CL. Marques MV. Martins EAL, Martins EMF. Matsukuma AY, Menck CFM, Miracca EC, Miyaki CY, Monteiro-Vitorello CB, Moon DH, Nagai MA, Nascimento ALTO, Netto LES, Nhani Jr. A, Nobrega FG, Nunes LR, Oliveira MA, de Oliveira MC, de Oliveira RC, Palmieri DA, Paris A, Peixoto BR, Pereira GAG, Pereira Jr. HA, Pesquero JB, Quaggio RB, Roberto PG, Rodrigues V, Rosa AJ de M, de Rosa Jr. VE, de Sá RG, Santelli RV, Sawasaki HE, da Silva ACR, da Silva AM, da Silva FR, Silva Jr. WA, da Silveira JF, Silvestri MLZ, Siqueira WJ, de Souza AA, de Souza AP, Terenzi MF, Truffi D, Tsai SM, Tsuhako MH, Vallada H, Van Sluys MA, Verjovski-Almeida S, Vettore AL, Zago MA, Zatz M, Meidanis J, Setubal JC (2000) The genome sequence of the plant pathogen Xylella fastidiosa. Nature 406, 151-159

- Thorne ET, Stevenson JF, Thomas LR, Labavitch JM, Matthews MA (2006) Pierce's disease symptoms: comparison with symptoms of water deficit and the impact of water deficits. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* **57**, 1-11
- Vu JCV, Yelenosky G (1988) Water deficit and associated changes in some photosynthetic parameters in leaves of 'Valencia' orange (*Citrus sinensis* [L.] Osbeck). *Plant Physiology* 88, 375-378
- Whitbred JM, Schuler MA (2000) Molecular characterization of CYP73A9 and CYP82A1 P450 genes involved in plant defense in pea. Plant Physiology 124, 47-58
- Wulff NA, Carrer H, Pascholati SF (2006) Expression and purification of cellulase Xf818 from *Xylella fastidiosa* in *Escherichia coli. Current Microbio*logy 53, 198-203